
 
 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA  

        
       ) 
MGM RESORTS GLOBAL    ) 
DEVELOPMENT, LLC; and    ) 
BLUE TARP REDEVELOPMENT, LLC  ) 
       ) 
  Plaintiffs,    ) 
       ) 
   v.    )  
       ) No. 19-cv-2377-RC 
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE )  
INTERIOR; TARA M. SWEENEY,   ) 
Assistant Secretary, Department of Interior,  ) 
Indian Affairs; JOHN TAHSUDA, Principal  ) 
Deputy Assistant Secretary, Department of  ) 
Interior, Indian Affairs; and     ) 
DAVID BERNHARDT, Secretary of the Interior ) 
       ) 
  Defendants.    ) 
       ) 
 

PLAINTIFFS’ OPPOSITION TO 
FEDERAL DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS 

Pursuant to Rule 7 of this Court’s Civil Rules and this Court’s Order dated October 10, 

2019, Plaintiffs MGM Resorts Global Development, LLC and Blue Tarp reDevelopment, LLC 

(collectively, “MGM”) respectfully oppose the motion to dismiss (ECF 16) filed by Defendants, 

the U.S. Department of the Interior and three of its senior officials (collectively, “Interior”).  As 

discussed below, the motion should be denied because MGM’s Complaint alleges facts that, 

taken as true, plausibly show that Interior’s challenged approval decisions are arbitrary, 

capricious, and contrary to law under the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”), 5 U.S.C. 

§ 706(2).  Although Interior argues that its decisions were reasonable, that defense goes to the 

merits of MGM’s claims, rather than the threshold question whether the Complaint fails to state 

a claim under Rule 12(b)(6).  Accordingly, Interior’s defenses are premature and must be 

resolved on cross-motions for summary judgment, per the standard practice in APA cases.  
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INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

This suit concerns Interior’s unprecedented approval of amendments to agreements that 

govern Connecticut’s casino-gaming market.  Although the amendments test the outer limits of 

Interior’s statutory authority and pose questions that Interior itself describes as “complicated,” the 

approval decisions provide no reasoning regarding those issues.  The approval decisions likewise 

depart without explanation from Interior’s own prior rulings in the same proceeding.  For these 

reasons and others, the challenged decisions are arbitrary, capricious, and contrary to law.  

This Court has already ruled twice on issues relating to the amendments,1 which the 

Mashantucket Pequot and Mohegan Tribes (the “Tribes”) submitted to Interior in 2017.  

Connecticut v. U.S. Dep’t of the Interior, 344 F. Supp. 3d 279 (D.D.C. 2018) (Contreras, J.) 

(Connecticut I); Connecticut v. U.S. Dep’t of the Interior, 363 F. Supp. 3d 45 (D.D.C. 2019) 

(Contreras, J.) (Connecticut II).  In brief, the Amendments propose a special exemption for the 

Tribes’ joint venture that would (1) authorize the joint venture to operate a commercial casino in 

East Windsor, Connecticut, and (2) grant the joint venture a competitive advantage worth hundreds 

of millions of dollars annually over other developers regarding casino projects elsewhere in 

Connecticut—including Bridgeport, where MGM and the joint venture are pursuing competing 

proposals.  See Connecticut I, 344 F. Supp. 3d at 297-302 (approval of Amendments would 

“immediately authorize … development of the East Windsor casino” and “grant” joint venture “an 

advantage in the state commercial casino market over private casino developers like MGM”). 

                                                 
1 Consistent with the parties’ prior filings, this brief refers to the amendments to the Mashantucket 
Pequot Procedures and Mashantucket Pequot Memorandum of Understanding collectively as the 
“Mashantucket Amendments” and the amendments to the Mohegan Compact and Mohegan 
Memorandum of Understanding collectively as the “Mohegan Amendments.”  Likewise, the brief 
refers to both sets of amendments together as the “Amendments.”   
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Interior initially declined to approve the Amendments and instead “return[ed]” them in 

September 2017 based on, among other things, a finding that the Tribes had submitted “insufficient 

information upon which to make a decision.”  ECF 1-1 at 219.  In Interior’s own words, this 2017 

decision “completed [the agency’s] review of the Amendment[s].”  Id.   

Yet in 2018 and 2019, Interior flip-flopped by approving the Mashantucket Amendments 

and allowing the Mohegan Amendments to be deemed approved.  See ECF 1-1 at 249, 255-64.   

Interior provided no explanation for its deemed approval of the Mohegan Amendments and 

indeed acknowledged that it issued the approval “without determining whether the” Amendments 

were “actually consistent with the statutory framework of” the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act 

(“IGRA”), 25 U.S.C. § 2701 et seq.  ECF 1-1 at 249, 251.  Although Interior issued letters 

describing its rationale for approving the Mashantucket Amendments, the letters fail to address 

fundamental, threshold issues such as whether the Amendments comply with IGRA’s “Indian 

lands” limitation, whether the Amendments were properly submitted and available for approval, 

and whether there was good cause to depart from the 2017 decision.   

MGM seeks judicial review of Interior’s approval decisions under the APA, 5 U.S.C. 

§ 706(2), IGRA, 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d), and IGRA’s implementing regulations, see, e.g., 25 C.F.R. 

Part 293.  In particular, MGM’s Complaint alleges that Interior’s approval decisions are unlawful 

for four reasons. 

First, Interior’s approvals violated IGRA.  IGRA “affords tools … to regulate gaming on 

Indian lands, and nowhere else.”  Michigan v. Bay Mills Indian Cmty., 572 U.S. 782, 795 (2014) 

(emphasis added).  Here, Interior approved amendments whose purpose and effect was to 

“immediately authorize” a commercial entity to operate a casino on private, non-Indian lands, 
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Connecticut I, 344 F. Supp. 3d at 302-03, rendering the approvals ultra vires as well as arbitrary 

and capricious, see Complaint, ECF 3 (“Compl.”) ¶¶ 95-101.  

Second, Interior violated IGRA and the APA by approving amendments that had been 

returned and so were no longer pending before Interior or available for approval.  See Compl. 

¶¶ 102-112.  As noted, in 2017 Interior “return[ed]” the Amendments due to insufficient 

information and announced that it had “completed [the agency’s] review.”  ECF 1-1 at 219.  The 

Tribes never resubmitted the Amendments to Interior or provided the missing information, and 

agency precedent confirms that the decision to return an amendment is the end of the line absent 

further action by the submitting party, not taken here, to reopen the matter.     

Third, Interior violated IGRA and the APA by issuing a “deemed approval” for the 

Mohegan Amendments.  See Compl. ¶¶ 113-121.  Interior has a statutory duty either to disapprove 

or return to a tribe an amendment that does not meet all the requirements of IGRA and its 

implementing regulations, see Amador County v. Salazar, 640 F.3d 373, 381 (D.C. Cir. 2011), 

including submission of a certification by the person executing the amendments on the state’s 

behalf—here, Connecticut Governor Dannel P. Malloy—that he had legal authority to do so.  See 

25 C.F.R. § 293.8(c).  No such certification was provided, rendering unlawful Interior’s deemed 

approval of the Mohegan Amendments. 

Fourth, and finally, Interior violated the APA by failing to explain its approvals and 

changes in position, and by failing to respond to MGM’s comments, which raised the legal flaws 

described above.  See Compl. ¶¶ 122-140.  Interior provided no justification at all for its deemed 

approval of the Mohegan Amendments, and Interior’s conclusory letters approving the 

Mashantucket Amendments do not satisfy the APA’s requirement that agencies “give adequate 

reasons for [their] decisions.”  Encino Motorcars, LLC v. Navarro, 136 S. Ct. 2117, 2125 (2016). 
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Interior’s motion to dismiss, which relies exclusively on Rule 12(b)(6), avoids addressing 

whether MGM’s claims plausibly state claims for violation of the APA and IGRA.  Instead, the 

motion largely seeks to contest MGM’s well-pleaded factual allegations and challenge the 

substantive merits of MGM’s claims.  That is improper at this stage, as the Court must treat 

MGM’s allegations as true for purposes of a motion of dismiss.  PETA v. U.S. Dep’t of Agric., 797 

F.3d 1087, 1092 (D.C. Cir. 2015).  As this Court observed in Connecticut I, “[a] motion to dismiss 

under Rule 12(b)(6) does not test a plaintiff’s ultimate likelihood of success on the merits; rather, 

it tests whether a plaintiff has properly stated a claim.”  344 F. Supp. 3d at 295.     

Interior’s merits-based arguments are particularly inappropriate in light of its unilateral 

decision to dispense with filing the administrative record, which is relevant to all of MGM’s 

claims.  See  Vargus v. McHugh, 87 F. Supp. 3d 298, 301 (D.D.C. 2015); Zemeka v. Holder 963 

F. Supp. 2d 22, 24 (D.D.C. 2013).  Indeed, this Court has recognized, in the context of applying 

Iqbal’s motion-to-dismiss standard, that allegations regarding the validity of agency 

decisionmaking “are difficult to evaluate without the benefit of a full administrative record.”  

Connecticut II, 363 F. Supp. 3d at 62; see also Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). 

For these reasons, Interior’s motion should be denied and Interior should be ordered 

promptly to file the full administrative record.  Even if the Court were to evaluate the substance of 

Interior’s merits-based arguments, they each fail for the reasons set forth below, and MGM’s 

allegations satisfy the requirements of Rule 12(b)(6). 

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

I. Connecticut’s Unprecedented Casino Scheme 

The Amendments arise from and are a central component of legislation recently enacted 

by Connecticut to authorize the state’s first commercial casino.  See Compl. ¶¶ 37-46; id. ¶ 9 

(explaining difference between tribal and commercial gaming).  Connecticut enacted those laws 
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in response to increasing regional competition faced by the Tribes’ existing on-reservation casinos, 

Foxwoods and Mohegan Sun, including from MGM Springfield, a destination resort casino 

announced in 2014 and opened in 2018.  See Compl. ¶¶ 30-36, 43.  Because this Court is already 

familiar with the events that led to Interior’s consideration of the Amendments, see Connecticut I, 

344 F. Supp. 3d at 289-94; Connecticut II, 363 F. Supp. 3d at 51-54, MGM addresses them in 

summary fashion and with a focus on events post-dating the Court’s decisions.   

In May 2015, Connecticut enacted Special Act 15-7, which authorized creation of a “tribal 

business entity … owned exclusively” by the Tribes and vested that entity with the exclusive right 

to develop a commercial casino in the state.  Special Act 15-7 § 1(a)-(f).2   

In June 2017, after the Tribes created that business entity, MMCT Venture LLC 

(“MMCT”), and after MMCT proposed a casino in East Windsor, Connecticut, the State enacted 

Public Act 17-89, which conditionally grants MMCT the exclusive right to operate the proposed 

casino.  See Public Act 17-89, §§ 14(b)-(c).3  The Act’s proponents described it as a means of 

blunting the competitive threat to the Tribes’ existing on-reservation casinos, Foxwoods and 

Mohegan Sun, posed by “the very large MGM casino soon to open in Springfield.”  See Conn. 

General Assembly, Senate Debate on Public Act 17-89, at 110 (May 23, 2017); see also id. at 88 

(“if there’s one driver behind this bill, it’s the potential loss of revenue immediately because MGM 

is up and open”).4   

                                                 
2 Available at https://www.cga.ct.gov/2015/ACT/sa/pdf/2015SA-00007-R00SB-01090-SA.pdf.  
These legislative records are subject to judicial notice.  Connecticut I, 344 F. Supp. 3d at 291 n.6. 
3 Available at https://www.cga.ct.gov/2017/act/pa/pdf/2017PA-00089-R00SB-00957-PA.pdf. 
4 Available at https://www.cga.ct.gov/2017/trn/S/2017STR00523-R00-TRN.htm. 
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As this Court recognized, Public Act 17-89’s scheme could not function without 

corresponding amendments to the Tribes’ Gaming Authorizations.  See Connecticut I, 344 F. Supp. 

3d at 291-92.5  Public Act 17-89 states that MMCT’s authorization to operate the proposed East 

Windsor casino “shall not be effective” unless the Tribes (1) execute “amendments to” the Gaming 

Authorizations providing that gaming by MMCT “does not relieve” the Tribes of their 

“obligation[s] to contribute” payments to the State from their slots revenues at Foxwoods and 

Mohegan Sun, (2) those amendments are approved by the state legislature, and (3) the amendments 

are approved or deemed approved by Interior “pursuant to [IGRA] and its implementing 

regulations.”  Public Act 17-89, § 14(c)(1)-(2).  Without these steps, gaming by MMCT would 

deprive Connecticut of hundreds of millions in annual revenue.  See Compl. ¶¶ 27-29, 45; 

Connecticut I, 344 F. Supp. 3d at 291.  

In July 2017, pursuant to Public Act 17-89, the Tribes and Connecticut Governor Malloy 

executed the Amendments, which revised the Gaming Authorizations to provide that operation of 

a MMCT casino (whether in East Windsor or elsewhere in Connecticut) would not terminate the 

Tribes’ revenue-sharing obligations to the State.  See ECF 1-1 at 198-201 (Mashantucket 

Amendments), 172-175 (Mohegan Amendments).  The Amendments revise the Gaming 

Authorizations’ exclusivity provisions—which called for termination of the revenue-sharing 

relationship if Connecticut permitted “any other person” to offer casino gaming—to create a 

special exemption for MMCT, under which revenue-sharing continues so long as no “person other 

than” MMCT operates a casino in Connecticut.  ECF No. 1-1 at 172-173, 198-199 (emphasis 

added).  The Amendments thus pave the way for MMCT’s proposed East Windsor casino, per 

                                                 
5 We refer to the Mashantucket Procedures, the Mohegan Compact, and the Tribes’ respective 
Memoranda of Understanding with Connecticut collectively as the “Gaming Authorizations.” 
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section 14(c) of Public Act 17-89, while also granting MMCT a competitive advantage over all 

other casino developers worth hundreds of millions annually.  See Connecticut I, 344 F. Supp. 3d 

at 291-92; Compl. ¶¶ 27-29, 44-45.   

The Connecticut legislature adopted a resolution on July 31, 2017 approving the 

Amendments and explaining that they “authorize” MMCT to “operate a gaming facility in East 

Windsor, Connecticut pursuant to [P]ublic [A]ct 17-89.”  Conn. H. J. Res. No. 301 (July 31, 2017), 

reproduced in ECF 1-1 at 187-91.   

II. Interior’s Review and Return of the Amendments 

By August 2017, Interior’s approval of the Amendments represented the sole remaining 

hurdle to MMCT’s operation of the East Windsor casino.  See Connecticut I, 344 F. Supp. 3d at 

292; Compl. ¶ 50.  At the time, Interior had never permitted use of IGRA’s amendment procedure 

to facilitate a commercial, off-reservation casino.  See Compl. ¶ 49.     

The Tribes submitted the Amendments to Interior for review on August 2, 2017, as required 

by Public Act 17-89, IGRA, and in the case of the Mohegan Amendments, IGRA’s implementing 

regulations, 25 C.F.R. Part 293.   

MGM participated in Interior’s review process by filing comments addressing Interior’s 

authority to approve the Amendments and by meeting (through MGM’s employees and outside 

consultants) with Interior officials to discuss the legal and policy questions raised by the 

Amendments.  See Compl. ¶¶ 53, 56.  MGM’s initial comments, submitted in early August 2017, 

urged Interior to disapprove the Amendments because they “violate IGRA, which authorizes only 

tribal-state compacts pertaining to gaming on ‘Indian lands,’” and further argued that “IGRA 

prohibits Indian gaming on off-reservation lands acquired after 1988 except in narrowly defined 

circumstances” not present here, and that Interior should not authorize a “new, hybrid procedure, 
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in which [Interior] provides an initial sign-off but has no ongoing regulatory authority over the 

new casino.”  See Ex. A at 2-3.6   

On September 15, 2017, Interior “completed [its] review of the Amendment[s]” by issuing 

substantially similar letters to Governor Malloy and the chairman of each Tribe.  ECF 1-1 at 218-

220.  These letters—the “2017 Decisions”—explained that Interior was “return[ing]” the 

Amendments to the Tribes for several reasons, including because “there [was] insufficient 

information upon which to make a decision,” and that Interior’s action therefore “maintain[ed] the 

status quo” regarding the Tribes’ Gaming Authorizations.  ECF 1-1 at 219.   

Although the 2017 Decisions should have ended the matter absent resubmission of the 

Amendments with additional information—a step the Tribes did not take, see Compl. ¶ 109—the 

Tribes pressured Interior to issue a notice indicating that the Amendments had been deemed 

approved by operation of law under 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(8)(C).  See Compl. ¶ 55.   

MGM responded by filing additional comments on October 30, 2017 contending that (1) 

the Amendments were no longer pending before Interior and so could not be deemed approved, 

(2) Interior had authority to return the Amendments, and (3) the Mashantucket Amendments were 

ineligible for deemed approval in any event.  See ECF 1-1 at 222-247.  Alternatively, MGM argued 

that if Interior reached the merits of the Amendments, it should disapprove them because “the 

[A]mendments serve only one purpose: facilitating commercial, off-reservation, non-IGRA 

gaming by MMCT, a non-tribal commercial Connecticut limited liability company” in 

contravention of IGRA’s text, structure, and legislative history.  ECF 1-1 at 225, 235-38.   

During the same period, MGM proposed a casino resort and entertainment complex in 

Bridgeport, Connecticut.  See Compl. ¶¶ 77-85; Connecticut I, 344 F. Supp. 3d at 293.  That 

                                                 
6 A true and correct copy of MGM’s August 2017 comments is attached as Exhibit A. 
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proposal garnered support in Connecticut’s legislature, including passage by the House of 

Representatives of legislation to authorize a competitive-bidding process that would allow for 

consideration of MGM’s Bridgeport project.  Compl. ¶ 81.   

MMCT subsequently announced that it too planned to pursue a Bridgeport casino.  See 

Compl. ¶ 83; Connecticut I, 344 F. Supp. 3d at 294.   

MGM recently renewed its contractual option to develop the proposed site for its 

Bridgeport project and continues to advocate for the Bridgeport proposal.7 

III. The Connecticut Litigation and Interior’s About-Face 

The Tribes and Connecticut jointly filed suit against Interior on November 29, 2017, 

seeking a declaration that the Amendments “are deemed approved” and a writ of mandamus 

“directing [Interior] to publish a notice of approval [of the Amendments] in the Federal Register.” 

Connecticut v. U.S. Dep’t of the Interior, No. 17-cv-02564, ECF 1 (D.D.C. Nov. 29 2017).   

On December 26, 2017, MGM moved to intervene in the Connecticut litigation based on, 

among other things, its interests “as developer of a proposed casino in Bridgeport and as operator 

of MGM Springfield.”  Connecticut, No. 17-cv-02564, ECF 11 at 2 (D.D.C. Dec. 26, 2017).   

In June 2018, with the Connecticut litigation still pending, Interior reversed course from 

its 2017 Decisions and published notice in the Federal Register indicating that it had deemed 

approved the amendment to the Mohegan Compact.  See 83 Fed. Reg. 24, 484, reproduced in ECF 

1-1 at 249.  The notice did not explain why Interior changed its position or whether the Mohegan 

Compact amendment complies with IGRA.  However, one day before Interior published the 

                                                 
7 Dan Haar, MGM Renews Bridgeport Option Amid Stalemate, The Middletown Press (Oct. 20, 
2019), https://www.middletownpress.com/news/article/Dan-Haar-MGM-renews-Bridgeport-
option-amid-14548409.php; see also Connecticut I, 344 F. Supp. 3d at 306 n.23 (taking judicial 
notice of news article).   
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deemed-approval notice, Interior issued a statement indicating that it allowed the amendment to 

go into effect “[t]o facilitate a more timely resolution of these complicated issues” and that Interior 

did so “without determining whether the Mohegan compact amendment is actually consistent with 

the statutory framework of IGRA.”  ECF 1-1 at 251.   

As a result of the deemed approval, Connecticut, the Mohegan, and Interior stipulated to 

dismissal of the Mohegan’s claims.  See Connecticut I, 344 F. Supp. 3d at 293.   

The Connecticut litigation continued with respect to the Mashantucket Amendments.  

Although Connecticut and the Mashantucket urged the Court to proceed directly to a ruling on the 

merits, Interior objected, arguing that “APA challenges are generally decided through cross-

motions for summary judgment” where “the Court’s review is based on the administrative record,” 

and that, “[b]y bypassing the administrative record, Plaintiffs seek to minimize the standard of 

review” under the APA.  Connecticut, No. 17-cv-02564, ECF 35, at 5-7 (D.D.C. April 9, 2018).  

Interior further contended that “[i]t would contravene well-established APA jurisprudence if this 

case were decided without affording the agency the chance to designate and lodge the 

administrative record.”  Id. at 7. 

On September 29, 2018, this Court issued an order granting Interior’s motion to dismiss 

the Mashantucket’s claims and granting MGM’s motion for leave to intervene.  See Connecticut 

I, 344 F. Supp. 3d at 306-07.  The Court reasoned that the plaintiffs had failed to state a claim 

because IGRA’s deemed-approval mechanism, on which plaintiffs’ claims depended, does not 

apply to unilaterally issued secretarial procedures (as opposed to bilaterally adopted gaming 

compacts).  See id. at 306-19.  Regarding intervention, the Court held that MGM had standing to 

participate because approval of the Amendments would “satisfy the final unfulfilled condition of 

Public Act 17-89, and therefore immediately authorize the Tribes’ development of the East 
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Windsor casino to compete with MGM’s Springfield casino.”  Id. at 302.  The Court likewise 

observed that overturning Interior’s 2017 Decisions “would give [MMCT] an advantage in the 

state commercial casino market over private casino developers like MGM.”  Id. at 298.   

Undeterred, the Mashantucket and Connecticut moved to file an amended complaint with 

new claims.  See Connecticut, No. 17-cv-02564, ECF 60 (D.D.C. Oct. 17, 2018). 

The Court granted the motion to amend in part, allowing two of three proposed claims to 

be filed.  See Connecticut II, 363 F. Supp. 3d at 50.  Most important for present purposes, the Court 

understood the dispute as involving Interior’s refusal to “approve an agreement that would allow 

[the Plaintiffs] to begin constructing the casino” in East Windsor.  Id. at 50.  The Court also rejected 

Interior’s argument (not joined by MGM) that the 2017 Decisions were not final, reviewable 

agency action.  As the Court explained, the 2017 Decisions marked the “consummation of the 

Secretary’s decisionmaking process” and indicated that Interior had “completed [its] review of the 

Amendment[s].”  Id. at 58-60 (first alteration in original).   

Shortly after the Court granted leave to file an amended complaint, Interior mooted the 

Connecticut litigation by approving the Mashantucket Amendments.  On March 25, 2019, Interior 

published a Federal Register notice indicating that it had approved the Amendments, again without 

explaining why it had departed from the 2017 Decisions.  See 84 Fed. Reg. 11,122 (Mar. 25, 2019), 

reproduced in ECF 1-1 at 255.  The Connecticut plaintiffs thereafter voluntarily dismissed their 

suit.  See Connecticut, No. 17-cv-02564, ECF 76 (D.D.C. Mar. 25, 2019). 

IV. MGM’s FOIA Requests and This Lawsuit 

MGM filed Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) requests with Interior in July 2018 and 

March 2019, requesting all documents relating to Interior’s review or approval of the 

Amendments.  See Compl. ¶¶ 57, 69-70.   
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Interior provided partial, but incomplete responses to those requests.8  The responses 

include a copy of MGM’s October 2017 comments as well as letters dated March 15 and 19, 2019, 

stating Interior’s justification for approving the Mashantucket Amendments.  See Compl. ¶¶ 57, 

70; ECF 1-1 at 257-64.   

MGM filed this suit on August 7, 2019.  See ECF 1.  The suit challenges Interior’s decisions 

to approve the Mashantucket Amendments and to allow the Mohegan Amendments to be deemed 

approved (collectively, the “Approval Decisions”) under the APA and IGRA.  See ECF 3. 

Interior moved to dismiss on October 7, 2019.  See ECF 16, Motion to Dismiss (“Mot.”).9  

In addition to seeking dismissal of “all claims of the Complaint,” the motion announces Interior’s 

unilateral decision “not [to] submit an index of the administrative record.”  ECF 16 at 1 & n.1. 

ARGUMENT 

I. Interior’s Motion Is Premature, and the Issues It Raises Are Properly Considered 
Only on a Motion for Summary Judgment Based on the Full Administrative Record. 

A. Interior Improperly Attempts to Controvert MGM’s Well-Pleaded Factual 
Allegations and Raise Merits-Based Arguments. 

 Interior seeks dismissal of MGM’s Complaint solely under Rule 12(b)(6).  As Interior 

acknowledges, the sole issue properly raised under that rule is whether MGM’s Complaint 

“contain[s] sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to state a claim to relief that is plausible on 

its face.”  Mot. at 6 (quoting Iqbal, 556 U.S.at , 678); see also PETA, 797 F.3d at 1092 (applying 

Iqbal to APA cases).  Importantly, the Court must “treat the complaint’s factual allegations as true 

                                                 
8 For example, Interior provided virtually no records from 2018 or 2019, the critical period when 
it reversed course, other than the Mohegan deemed approval and the Mashantucket approval 
letters.  Accordingly, while MGM has attached to its Complaint portions of the administrative 
record of which MGM is aware, it is a near-certainty that those materials do not constitute the 
complete administrative record.     
9 All citations to Interior’s motion refer to Interior’s memorandum in support, using the numbering 
at the bottom of each page.   
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and grant [MGM] the benefit of all inferences that can be derived from the facts alleged.”  PETA, 

797 F.3d at 1092 (cleaned up). 

 As a threshold matter, it is undisputed that MGM’s claims rely on facially valid causes of 

action under 5 U.S.C. § 706(2), which provides that “[t]he reviewing court shall … hold unlawful 

and set aside agency action found to be … arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise 

not in accordance with law,” “in excess of statutory jurisdiction, authority, or limitations,” or 

“without observance of procedure required by law.”  See Compl. ¶¶ 101, 112, 121, 140.  It is also 

undisputed that Interior’s approval decisions are final agency action subject to judicial review.  See 

5 U.S.C. § 704; Bennett v. Spear, 520 U.S. 154, 177-78 (1997); Compl. ¶ 1.10  

 Unable to dispute the facial validity of MGM’s causes of action, or to raise any other 

threshold defenses, Interior instead improperly seeks to controvert MGM’s factual allegations and 

raise merits arguments at the Rule 12(b)(6) stage.  Two examples illustrate the point. 

 First, Interior argues that “[t]he purpose of the Amendments is understood by all parties 

and this Court: the Amendments merely confirm that the operation of a state-sanctioned 

commercial gaming facility by a state-charted tribal joint venture does not violate the exclusivity 

provisions of the Tribes’ respective MOUs with the State.”  Mot. at 7.  Not so:  MGM’s Complaint 

contains well-pleaded factual allegations explaining that the purpose and effect of the 

Amendments is to facilitate an off-reservation commercial casino and that Interior failed to grapple 

with this issue—which goes directly to Interior’s statutory authority—in its Approval Decisions.  

See, e.g., Compl. ¶¶ 45-46, 97, 130. 

                                                 
10 Interior’s letter approving the Mashantucket Amendments states that the approval “constitute[s] 
final action by the Department” and that, as a result of the approval, the Amendments “are effective 
immediately.”  ECF 1-1 at 259, 262.  Precedent likewise dictates that Interior’s “deemed approval” 
of the Mohegan Amendments constitutes final agency action.  See Amador, 640 F.3d at 380-83. 
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 Second, Interior argues that it “reasonably concluded that the Amendments could be 

approved consistent with IGRA.”  Mot. at 11.  The “reasonableness” of Interior’s analysis, 

however, relates to whether Interior satisfied the APA’s requirement of reasoned decisionmaking, 

not whether MGM’s Complaint states a claim.  Indeed, MGM’s Complaint sets forth why the 

Approval Decisions are not reasonable.  Compl. ¶¶ 11, 49, 56, 96-100.  Those allegations must be 

taken as true at the motion-to-dismiss stage, and the sole question (which Interior largely avoids) 

is whether the allegations, accepted as true, plausibly state a claim that Interior’s decisions were 

arbitrary, capricious, or contrary to law. 

B. Interior’s Merits-Based Arguments Are Proper Only on a Motion for 
Summary Judgment with the Full Record. 

 Interior’s motion should also be denied in full for the related reason that Interior’s merits-

based arguments are proper only on a motion for summary judgment with the full administrative 

record before the Court, not on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss.  

 This Court has explained in APA cases that motions to dismiss are properly limited to 

issues that do not depend on the administrative record such as subject-matter jurisdiction.  Vargus 

v. McHugh, 87 F. Supp. 3d 298, 301 (D.D.C. 2015).11  Otherwise, “[s]ummary judgment is the 

proper mechanism for deciding, as a matter of law, whether an agency action is supported by the 

administrative record, and consistent with the APA standard of review.”  Zemeka, 963 F. Supp. 2d 

22, 24 (D.D.C. 2013) (quoting Loma Linda Univ. Med. Ctr. v. Sebelius, 684 F. Supp. 2d 42, 52 

(D.D.C. 2010)); see also, e.g., Vargus, 87 F. Supp. 3d at 301-302.  

                                                 
11 Although Vargus suggests that “interpreting the extent to which [a] regulation is consistent with 
[a] statute” can be resolved on a motion to dismiss, 87 F. Supp. 3d at 301 (alteration in original), 
Circuit precedent is to the contrary: a claim that an agency has exceeded statutory authority 
“survives a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss” so long as the complaint “identifies the perceived 
disconnect between what the statute permits” and the relevant agency action, Wash. All. of Tech. 
Workers v. DHS, 892 F.3d 332, 344 (D.C. Cir. 2018). 
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 That rule makes good sense because the question whether an agency decision is arbitrary 

and capricious—e.g., whether the agency “examined the relevant data and articulated a satisfactory 

explanation for its action including a rational connection between the facts found and the choice 

made”—can be determined only by “considering the administrative record” before the agency.  

Swedish Am. Hosp. v. Sebelius, 691 F. Supp. 2d 80, 89 (D.D.C. 2010) (citation omitted). 

 This Court has recognized, in the context of applying Iqbal’s motion-to-dismiss standard, 

that allegations regarding the validity of agency decisionmaking “are difficult to evaluate without 

the benefit of a full administrative record.”  Connecticut II, 363 F. Supp. 3d at 62.  Thus, in 

Connecticut II this Court declined to dismiss APA claims that mirror those asserted by MGM here.  

Specifically, the Court found that allegations regarding claimed deficiencies in Interior’s 2017 

Decisions survived a motion to dismiss and required the full administrative record to evaluate.  

Connecticut II, 363 F. Supp. 3d at 60-62.   

 Indeed, as noted, Interior previously agreed that the administrative record is required to 

resolve these types of claims.  In the Connecticut litigation, Interior explained that “APA cases are 

normally resolved on cross-motions for summary judgment” and that the full administrative record 

was necessary to resolve the merits of the Connecticut claims—i.e., that “[b]ypassing the 

administrative record” would impermissibly “minimize the standard of review” and “contravene 

well-established APA jurisprudence.”  Connecticut, No. 17-cv-02564, ECF 35 at 6-7 (D.D.C. April 

9, 2018); see also Connecticut, No. 17-2564, ECF No. 41 at 5 (D.D.C. June 18, 2018) (“The normal 

procedures for APA cases — where the agency files an administrative record and the case is 

decided on cross-motions for summary judgment — should be followed here.”). 

 Interior now, without citation to pertinent authority, reverses course and asks the Court to 

resolve merits-based issues without the benefit of the full administrative record.  See ECF 16 at 1 
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n.1.  There is no basis for that approach:  “[T]he most appropriate course … is to deny the Motion 

to Dismiss and require Defendants to renew their arguments in a motion for summary judgment 

with citations to the administrative record.”  Zemeka, 963 F. Supp. 2d at 26; see also, e.g., Nat’l 

Ass’n for Home Care & Hospice v. Burwell, 77 F. Supp. 3d 103, 112-13 (D.D.C. 2015) (same). 

 Dismissal is particularly inappropriate here because Interior has not complied with Local 

Rule 7(n) and the full contents of the administrative record have not been disclosed to MGM.  

Under Rule 7(n), in APA cases the agency “must file a certified list of the contents of the 

administrative record with the Court ... simultaneously with the filing of a dispositive motion.”  

L.R. 7(n)(1).  Where the record has not been filed pursuant to Rule 7(n), “the Court does not have 

a complete administrative record before it” and thus “cannot properly evaluate the plaintiff’s 

claims that the defendants acted arbitrarily and capriciously.”  Farrell v. Tillerson, 315 F. Supp. 

3d 47, 69 (D.D.C. 2018). 

 The lone case on which Interior relies to avoid its Rule 7(n) duty, Mdewakanton Sioux 

Indians v. Zinke, 264 F. Supp. 3d 116 (D.D.C. 2017), is inapposite.  At issue there were threshold 

legal issues relating to exhaustion of administrative remedies and the statute of limitations.  The 

court decided the case on exhaustion grounds, finding that the plaintiffs had “tacitly concede[d]” 

that they failed to satisfy the exhaustion requirement and did not demonstrate that an exception 

was warranted.  Id. at 128.  Moreover, the Mdewakanton plaintiffs were on notice after a preceding 

motion to dismiss that “exhaustion of administrative remedies was at issue,” but failed adequately 

to address the issue.  Id. at 126 n.15.  Mdewakanton thus does not establish that Local Rule 7(n) is 

inapplicable in the context of a motion to dismiss focused on the merits of a plaintiff’s claims.12 

                                                 
12 Although courts have permitted review based on a partial record in narrow circumstances, none 
of those exceptions applies here, particularly because Interior has not provided MGM the full 
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 Accordingly, Interior’s motion should be denied in full, and Interior should be ordered to 

file the administrative record.13 

II. Count I States a Valid Claim: The Amendments Authorize Commercial Gaming in 
Violation of IGRA’s Indian Lands Limitation. 

A. MGM’s Allegations Satisfy Iqbal. 

 Count I of MGM’s Complaint adequately alleges that Interior violated the APA and IGRA 

because the Amendments authorize an off-reservation, commercial casino. 

 As an initial matter, Count I relies on a valid cause of action under the APA, see Part I.A, 

supra, and is also grounded in the undisputed—and undisputable—proposition that IGRA “affords 

tools … to regulate gaming on Indian lands, and nowhere else,” Bay Mills, 572 U.S. at 795 

(emphasis added); see also Compl. at 2-3, ¶¶ 11, 96. 

 Count I also plausibly alleges that the Approval Decisions contravene the “Indian lands” 

limitation and fail to provide a reasoned analysis of that issue.  As described below, MGM alleges, 

with support from the available record evidence and this Court’s prior rulings, that the purpose 

and effect of the Amendments is to authorize a commercial casino removed from the Tribes’ 

                                                 
record and did not consult with MGM before announcing unilaterally that it would not file the 
record.  See generally Walter O. Boswell Memorial Hosp. v. Heckler, 749 F.2d 788, 793 (D.C. Cir. 
1984) (“For review to go forward on a partial record, we would have to be convinced that the 
selection of particular portions of the record was the result of mutual agreement between the parties 
after both sides had fully reviewed the complete record.”); McKoy v. Spencer, 271 F. Supp. 3d 25, 
39 (D.D.C. 2017) (“The Court needs to resolve disputes about the completeness of the 
administrative record before addressing the merits of dispositive motions.”); Dist. Hosp. Partners, 
L.P. v. Sebelius, 794 F. Supp. 2d 162, 171 (D.D.C. 2011) (dismissal based solely on Federal 
Register notice “would be premature here because a review of the administrative record is 
necessary to a determination of whether the Secretary's methodology was arbitrary and 
capricious”). 
13 Interior’s filing of the record would not render its merits-based arguments appropriate to resolve 
on a motion to dismiss.  Moreover, the Court would need “to resolve [any] disputes about the 
completeness of the administrative record before addressing the merits of dispositive motions.”  
McKoy, 271 F. Supp. 3d at 40. 
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reservations, on a parcel that does not qualify as “Indian lands” under IGRA.  E.g., Compl. ¶¶ 48, 

87, 91, 97; 25 U.S.C. § 2703(4) (defining “Indian lands”).  Interior contests MGM’s allegations 

regarding the Amendments’ purpose and effect, but those allegations must be taken as true at this 

stage.  Moreover, the Approval Decisions do not address the Indian-lands issue such that even if 

Interior had statutory authority to issue the approvals, it did not exercise that authority in 

compliance with the APA’s requirement of reasoned decisionmaking.  See Encino Motorcars, 136 

S. Ct. at 2125 (reciting “basic procedural requiremen[t] … that an agency must give adequate 

reasons for its decisions”); Connecticut II, 363 F. Supp. 3d at 61 (addressing same requirement).   

 Accordingly, MGM’s allegations are sufficient to survive a motion to dismiss.  As the D.C. 

Circuit has made clear, a complaint challenging agency action as exceeding statutory authority 

will survive a motion to dismiss if it “identifies the perceived disconnect between what the statute 

permits” and the agency action, and “cites the relevant statutory and regulatory provisions.”  Wash. 

All. of Tech. Workers, 892 F.3d at 344.  MGM has done so here, and nothing more is required. 

B. Regardless, Interior’s Arguments Fail on the Merits. 

 Even if the Court were to evaluate the merits of Interior’s arguments at this stage, without 

the benefit of the full administrative record, Interior’s arguments fail. 

1. Interior’s Characterization of the Amendments’ Purpose Is Contrary 
to the Court’s Previous Holdings and the Available Record. 

 Interior’s argument that its approvals are permissible under IGRA is founded on the 

erroneous premise that “[t]he purpose of the Amendments is understood by all parties and this 

Court: the Amendments merely confirm that the operation of a state-sanctioned commercial 

gaming facility by a state-charted tribal joint venture does not violate the exclusivity provisions of 

the Tribes’ respective MOUs with the State.”  Mot. at 7.  That assertion is belied by both this 

Court’s opinions and the available portions of the record. 
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 First, this Court has already rejected Interior’s previous argument “that Public Act 17-19—

rather than the proposed amendments to the Pequot Procedures—authorizes the East Windsor 

casino, and therefore that MGM’s alleged competitive harm would arise from the passage of Public 

Act 17-89, not the Secretary’s approval of the Pequot Procedures.”  Connecticut I, 344 F. Supp. 

3d at 300.  As noted, the Court concluded in Connecticut I that approval of the Amendments would  

“immediately authorize … development of the East Windsor casino” by “satisfy[ing] the final 

unfulfilled condition of Public Act 17-89.”  Id. at 302; see also id. at 303 (“The Secretary’s decision 

… is not the first step towards” approval of “the state’s next commercial casino,” but is instead 

“the only step.”); id. (“[T]he amendments … will immediately authorize additional competition 

for MGM’s Springfield casino.”).   

 Second, the available record materials show that the Amendments authorize a commercial 

casino.  For example, in approving the Amendments, the Connecticut legislature explained that 

“such amendments will authorize” MMCT “to operate a gaming facility in East Windsor.”  ECF 

No. 1-1 at 190, 193.  That approval resolution was submitted to Interior with the Amendments.  

ECF No. 1-1 at 167, 215.  The Amendments likewise state that they “seek to help the Tribes ‘own 

and operate a commercial casino.’”  Connecticut I, 344 F. Supp. 3d at 301 n.19 (quoting Mohegan 

Compact Amendment at 1, reproduced in ECF 1-1 at 169).  An August 2017 letter from 

Connecticut officials to Interior urging approval of the Amendments similarly explains that 

“[a]pproval from the Bureau of Indian Affairs … is the last hurdle we need to get over before 

shovels go into the ground.”  Connecticut,  No. 17-cv-02564, ECF 57-3 at 1 (D.D.C. Sept. 28, 

2018).  The Town of East Windsor also wrote to Interior, urging approval “so the project can begin 

in earnest.”  Connecticut,  No. 17-cv-02564, ECF No. 63-1 at 9 (D.D.C. Nov. 7, 2018). 
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 Third, Interior itself has expressed concerns about whether the Amendments are within the 

scope of its statutory authority.  In issuing its “deemed approved” of the Mohegan amendments, 

Interior explained that they raised “complicated issues” and that Interior had not “determin[ed] 

whether the Mohegan compact amendment is actually consistent with the statutory framework of 

IGRA.”  ECF No. 1-1 at 251.  Indeed, Interior’s 2017 “technical assistance” letter noted that the 

Amendments “would impact the proposed commercial gaming facility” and that “documents 

provided to the Department with the Tribes’ request for technical assistance”—presumably the 

Amendments, although it is impossible to know without the full administrative record—“would 

permit the Tribes to jointly operate a commercial gaming facility.”  Connecticut,  No. 17-cv-02564, 

ECF No. 9-5 at 3-4 (D.D.C. Dec. 12, 2017).   

 Fourth, even Interior’s motion suggests that Interior at a minimum indirectly authorized 

the Connecticut casino.  At times Interior argues that the Amendments do not “authorize” 

commercial gaming, Mot. at 7, but elsewhere Interior states that the Amendments do not amount 

to “a direct authorization of the commercial facility,” Mot. at 8 (emphasis added); see also Mot. 

at 1 (“Interior’s approvals do not constitute direct authorization” (emphasis added)).  Interior fails 

to explain, both in its Approval Decisions and again in its motion, why this distinction is relevant, 

or why even an indirect authorization would be permissible under IGRA.  See also ECF 1-1 at 

235-40 (MGM comments explaining why Amendments violate IGRA).   

 Because the purpose and effect of the Amendments is to facilitate an off-reservation casino 

owned and operated by MMCT, a commercial entity, Interior lacks authority to approve it under 

IGRA, which addresses only gaming on Indian lands.  See Bay Mills, 572 U.S. at 79.   

 At a minimum, the Court should have the full administrative record before evaluating 

whether Interior’s claimed rationale regarding the purpose of the Amendments is correct, 
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consistent with the evidence, and not an impermissible post hoc rationalization.  See, e.g., Motor 

Veh. Mfrs. Ass’n v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 463 U.S. 29, 50 (1983) (“[A]n agency’s action 

must be upheld, if at all, on the basis articulated by the agency itself.”); Hill Dermaceuticals, Inc. 

v. FDA, 709 F. 3d 44, 47 (D.C. Cir. 2013) (“[It] is black-letter administrative law that in an APA 

case, a reviewing court should have before it neither more nor less information than did the agency 

when it made the decision.” (cleaned up)). 

2. Interior’s Conclusory Statement Regarding the Mashantucket 
Amendments Is Inadequate. 

 Interior’s reliance on the purported “narrow purpose” of the Amendments is also flawed 

because Interior has failed to justify or explain that assertion.  Interior’s purported explanation, 

located in the Mashantucket Approval Decision, consists of a single sentence: the Mashantucket 

Amendments “are narrowly tailored to affirm that the Tribe’s exclusive rights to operate certain 

form of IGRA-sanctioned Class III Gaming under its procedures ... will remain unaffected if the 

Tribe and Mohegan are authorized by the State under its laws to operate a gaming facility located 

outside of the Tribe’s or Mohegan’s Indian lands, as defined by IGRA.”  Mot. at 8. 

 That justification is conclusory and insufficient; it simply decrees that the Mashantucket 

Amendments are narrowly tailored without explaining why breadth matters under IGRA.  Indeed, 

the Mashantucket Approval Decision does not even mention Public Act 17-89 or that approval of 

the Amendments was the last step necessary to authorize the MMCT casino.  Far from justifying 

its action, Interior’s conclusory rationale demonstrates that the agency acted arbitrarily and 

capriciously: “conclusory statements will not do; an agency’s statement must be one of reasoning.”  

Amerijet Int’l, Inc. v. Pistole, 755 F.3d 1343, 1350 (D.C. Cir. 2014) (cleaned up). 

 Interior’s statement is also inaccurate.  As a legal matter, the amendments do not “affirm” 

a pre-existing legal reality that the MMCT casino will not alter the Tribes’ exclusivity rights; they 
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create a new legal reality.  See Connecticut I, 344 F. Supp. 3d at 298-302.  Interior did not 

acknowledge or address that critical difference, and its assertion that the Amendments do not 

“enact new terms and conditions” relating to the current IGRA-authorized casinos, Mot. at 10, is 

contrary to the plain text of the Amendments and the available record materials. 

 The Court addressed the obverse of this issue in the context of Interior’s 2017 Decisions.  

In those decisions, Interior suggested that it did not need to act on the Amendments because the 

Mashantucket had “entered an agreement with the State whereby they have agreed that the 

exclusivity provisions will not be breached by” MMCT’s casino.  The Court explained that: 

the Secretary’s action is in fact necessary because the ‘agreement’ between the Pequot and 
the State, by its text, requires the Secretary’s approval.  Because the Secretary apparently 
did not grapple with that paradox—‘returning’ the proposed amendments invalidated the 
very ‘agreement’ upon which the Secretary’s decision was based—neither Plaintiffs, nor 
the Court at this stage, could understand why the agency ‘chose to do what it did.’  
 

Connecticut II, 363 F. Supp. 3d at 61.  Similarly, because Interior’s approval was necessary to give 

the Amendments legal effect, it is paradoxical for Interior to argue that it is merely “affirm[ing]” 

or “confirm[ing]” an extant legal obligation.  Mot. at 8.  

 Moreover, the Amendments alter the “Tribe’s exclusive rights to operate certain forms of 

IGRA-sanctioned Class III gaming,” Mot. at 10, in a second way: by paving the way for MMCT, 

a separate legal entity, to operate a commercial casino that will compete with the existing IGRA-

sanctioned casinos.  MGM explained this issue in its comments to Interior.  ECF No. 1-1 at 235, 

239-40.  It is difficult to see how approval of amendments that allow a new casino to operate and 

draw customers from existing IGRA-sanctioned casinos would “confirm[] that IGRA-sanctioned 

gaming ‘would remain unaffected’ by the proposed commercial facility.”  Mot. at 11.14 

                                                 
14 Although Interior may suggest that because MMCT is owned by the Tribes, a shift in customers 
from Foxwoods and Mohegan Sun to an MMCT casino is unimportant, the Approval Decisions 
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 Perhaps most fundamentally, Interior does not explain how an amendment that was 

required to be approved by Interior to authorize a new commercial casino is “narrowly tailored.”  

To the contrary, Interior’s approval of this scheme is novel and unprecedented, which Interior’s 

motion and Approval Decisions do not dispute.  Compl. ¶¶ 49, 62, 136.  Moreover, this novel and 

unprecedented approach could have ramifications in more than two dozen states.  MGM’s 

comments raised all these concerns with Interior.15  ECF 1-1 at 222, 225, 240. 

 In sum, Interior’s decisions approving the Mashantucket Amendments do not adequately 

explain how Interior could have approved the Amendments consistent with IGRA.   

3. The Mohegan Deemed Approval Suffers from Equivalent Flaws. 

 Interior also incorrectly argues that, because it relied on IGRA’s “deemed approval” 

mechanism to approve the Mohegan Amendments, Interior was relieved of its statutory obligation 

to determine whether those Amendments are lawful.  Mot. at 11-12.  Regardless of whether a 

deemed approval is “inaction” or “action,”16 precedent requires Interior to disapprove unlawful 

amendments, which necessarily entails an antecedent duty to evaluate those amendments.   

 The D.C. Circuit has held that “[t]he Secretary must disapprove a compact if it would 

violate any of the three limitations” of 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(8)(B), including if the compact violates 

“any provision” of IGRA.  Amador, 640 F.3d at 381 (emphasis added).  The Court made clear that 

                                                 
do not make this argument, and so it cannot be invoked to support Interior’s actions.  SEC v. 
Chenery Corp., 332 U.S. 194, 196 (1947). 
15 Interior’s letters approving the Mashantucket Amendments do state that “[i]n such 
circumstances that we believe are unique only to the State of Connecticut,” the Amendments are 
“consistent with, and in fact do not violate, IGRA.”  ECF No. 1-1 at 262.  This conclusory 
statement is bereft of reasoning, with Interior failing to explain (1) what the pertinent 
circumstances are, (2) how and why they are unique to Connecticut, or (3) how and why those 
circumstances, or their unique nature, are relevant to the Amendments’ compliance with IGRA. 
16 See Part V.A, infra. 
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IGRA’s “deemed approval” provision “includes no exemption from this obligation to disapprove 

illegal compacts,” and the Secretary “may not allow a compact that violates” IGRA “to go into 

effect by operation of law.”  Id. 

 Accordingly, if the Mohegan Amendments exceeded the Secretary’s statutory authority 

under IGRA, Amador mandated that they be disapproved.  Moreover, because Amador imposes 

this limitation on deemed approvals, Interior had a corresponding duty to evaluate the legality of 

the Mohegan Amendments.17  Interior’s motion, however, concedes that Interior “took no action 

on the Mohegan Amendments,” Mot. at 22 (emphasis in original), and Interior issued a statement 

at the time it published the deemed-approval notice indicating that it allowed the Mohegan 

Amendments to go into effect “without determining whether the” Amendments were “actually 

consistent with” IGRA, ECF 1-1 at 251.   

III. Count II States a Valid Claim: Interior Violated the APA by Purporting to Approve 
Amendments that Had Been Returned and Were No Longer Pending. 

A. MGM’s Allegations Satisfy Iqbal. 

Because Count II relies on a valid cause of action and challenges reviewable agency action, 

see Part I.A, supra, the sole question is whether, taking the Complaint’s well-pleaded factual 

allegations as true, MGM has plausibly alleged that Interior violated the APA by approving 

amendments that had previously been returned, had not been resubmitted, and were therefore no 

longer pending before the agency to act upon.  See Compl. ¶¶ 102-112; Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678; 

Friends of Animals v. Zinke, 373 F. Supp. 3d 70, 82 (D.D.C. 2019).   

                                                 
17  See Part V.A, infra.  Although the Mashantucket approval letter mentions the Mohegan 
Amendments, ECF 1-1 at 262, that post-hoc statement is irrelevant to whether Interior acted 
lawfully with respect to the Mohegan Amendments.  See Chenery, 332 U.S. at 196. 
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The answer is “yes.”  Interior has long applied the rule that when a tribe submits a gaming 

proposal but fails to include information required by IGRA and its implementing regulations, 

Interior will return the proposal to the tribe.  This return closes the file and ends the matter, 

although the tribe may reopen the proceeding by submitting the missing information. 

Interior’s 2013 decisions regarding an amendment submitted by the Cheyenne-Arapaho 

Tribe illustrate the point.  See ECF 1-1 at 2-8.  The Cheyenne-Arapaho Tribe submitted a proposed 

compact amendment, but failed to include certifications required by 25 C.F.R. § 293.8(b)-(c), such 

that Interior could not determine whether the parties who signed the amendment had authority to 

do so.  See ECF 1-1 at 7.  Interior therefore concluded that the amendment was “not properly 

before us” and “return[ed]” it “to allow the Tribe and the State to submit a complete set of 

documents in compliance with the requirements of 25 C.F.R. Part 293.”  Id. at 7-8.  In doing so, 

Interior underscored that “the 45-day review period provided by IGRA … was not triggered” by 

the defective submission, id., and that “the record was closed” when Interior returned the 

amendment, id. at 6.  Only after the tribe submitted the required documentation did Interior reopen 

the matter and issue a merits decision on the amendment.  Id. at 6.   

Interior has applied the same rule in other proceedings.  For example, in 2010, Interior 

“returned” gaming applications submitted by two tribes “because they had not provided the 

information required by law to allow the Department to proceed with its review.”  U.S. Dep’ t of 

the Interior, Echo Hawk Issues Tribal Gaming Determinations (Nov. 10, 2010).18  Likewise, 

Interior has repeatedly returned proposals to take newly acquired lands into trust for off-reservation 

gaming under 25 U.S.C. § 2719 where the proposal fails to include information required by 25 

                                                 
18 Available at https://pilot.bia.gov/as-ia/opa/online-press-release/echo-hawk-issues-tribal-
gaming-determinations.  
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C.F.R. §§ 151.10 and 151.11.19  These decisions confirm that Interior “cannot take action based 

on an incomplete file” and “will take no further action on” a defective proposal “as submitted.”  

Ex. B. at 2-12. 

Interior has also applied this rule subsequent to issuing its Approval Decisions.  In April 

2019, the Seneca Nation of Indians submitted a decision by an arbitrator to Interior, requesting 

review and approval of it as a compact amendment. See Ex. B at 13-14.  Interior “return[ed] the 

Arbitration Award due to the absence of accompanying documentation required by the 

Department’s regulations, published at 25 C.F.R. Part. 293.”  Id. at 15.  Because “the submission 

did not comply with [Interior’s] regulations,” it was “never properly before [Interior] for review,” 

and the “45-day review period provided by IGRA was not triggered.”  Id. 

Count II plausibly alleges that Interior applied the rule set forth above when it returned the 

Amendments in 2017, such that the Amendments were no longer pending and could not be 

approved after that date unless properly resubmitted with all required information.  See Compl. 

¶¶ 102-112.  Interior’s 2017 Decisions state that Interior “completed [its] review of the 

Amendment[s]” and was “return[ing] the Amendment[s]” “to maintain the status quo.”  ECF 1-1 

at 219.  According to Interior, this step was warranted because the parties provided “insufficient 

information upon which to make a decision.”  Id.  Although Interior’s reasoning may not have 

been a model of clarity, the decision’s procedural import is clear: review was “completed” when 

Interior “return[ed]” the Amendments.  See Compl. ¶¶ 107-108.20   

                                                 
19 A collection of such decisions (and similar agency rulings) is attached as Exhibit B to this brief. 
20 Interior incorrectly asserts (Mot. at 19 n.6) that MGM’s comments “reflected the view that” even 
after issuance of the 2017 Decisions, “Interior could still approve or disapprove the Amendments.”  
Although MGM filed supplemental comments on October 30, 2017, MGM did so only because 
the Tribes had erroneously asserted that Interior had an obligation to publish deemed-approval 
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Count II also plausibly alleges that nothing happened after September 15, 2017 that would 

have reopened the issue, thus allowing Interior to approve the Amendments or allow them to be 

deemed approved.  In particular, MGM alleges that the Amendments were not resubmitted to 

Interior after they were returned in 2017 and that the Tribes likewise did not submit supplemental 

information to Interior after that date.  See id. ¶ 109; see also id. ¶¶ 57, 69-70, 73-74 (describing 

absence of other documents justifying the Approval Decisions).  

The upshot is that Count II plausibly alleges that Interior approved the Amendments (or 

allowed them to be deemed approved) at a point when they were no longer pending or available 

for approval.  That action is inconsistent with Interior’s 2017 Decisions, which state that the agency 

had “completed [its] review” before the approvals issued, and with the Cheyenne-Arapaho and 

other decisions cited above, all of which treat return of a submission as the end of the line absent 

reopening steps not present here.  Count II therefore alleges a classic case of arbitrary and 

capricious agency action: the approval decisions violated established agency precedent and 

disregarded Interior’s own prior decisions in the same matter.  See, e.g., Bus. Roundtable v. SEC, 

647 F.3d 1144, 1153 (D.C. Cir. 2011) (vacating internally inconsistent agency action); Water 

Quality Ins. Syndicate v. United States, 225 F. Supp. 3d 41, 76, 79 (D.D.C. 2016) (setting aside 

ruling “inconsistent with prior administrative decisions”); Compl. ¶¶ 111-112.  Interior’s approvals 

are procedurally defective because Interior did not (1) acknowledge the prior return decisions, (2) 

explain why it was approving amendments that had been returned and not resubmitted, or (3) 

                                                 
notices despite its decision to return the Amendments.  See Compl. ¶ 55.  MGM thus explained 
that “Interior ha[d] already ruled on the Tribes’ amendments,” that the earlier ruling “preclude[d] 
publication of a ‘deemed approval’ notice,” and that the matter was “already closed.”  ECF 1-1 at 
224; see also id. at 229 (Interior “has already issued a final decision disposing of” the 
Amendments), 230-32 (return decision was final in light of Cheyenne-Arapaho precedent).  
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provide a reasoned justification for departing from the Cheyenne-Arapaho rule.  See State Farm, 

463 U.S. at 43; Amerijet, 753 F.3d at 1350 (“A fundamental requirement of administrative law is 

that an agency set forth its reasons for decision; an agency’s failure to do so constitutes arbitrary 

and capricious agency action.” (cleaned up)).21    

B. Interior’s Contrary Arguments Fail. 

Interior’s scattershot arguments for dismissal fail several times over.  The agency first 

contends that Count II fails “as a matter of law,” but supports that contention based exclusively on 

a characterization of the facts.  Mot. at 13 & n.4.  In particular, Interior argues that the Mohegan 

Amendments were “properly submitted” in August 2017 and were thus “ready for Interior’s 

review” when they were approved in 2018 and 2019.  Mot. at 13; see also id. n.4.  That assertion 

is improper at this stage of the litigation because it fails to accept as true MGM’s contrary and 

well-pleaded factual allegation that the Amendments were not properly submitted, Compl. ¶ 106, 

as well as Interior’s own conclusion in 2017 that the submitting parties had not provided 

“[s]ufficient information,” ECF 1-1 at 219.22   

Interior’s arguments would fail on the merits in any event because they are impermissible 

post hoc rationalizations.  See Chenery, 332 U.S. at 196.  So far as MGM is aware, Interior never 

addressed whether the Mohegan Amendments were properly submitted before allowing them to 

be deemed approved, and Interior does not cite a pre-approval document in which the agency 

                                                 
21 Although Interior implies (e.g., Mot. at 10) that this bedrock requirement does not apply to 
informal adjudications such as the approval decisions at issue here, binding precedent is to the 
contrary.  See, e.g., Neustar, Inc. v. FCC, 857 F.3d 886, 893 (D.C. Cir. 2017); Butte Cty. v. Hogen, 
613 F.3d 190, 194 (D.C. Cir. 2010); Clark Cty. v. FAA, 522 F.3d 437, 441-42 (D.C. Cir. 2008); 
see also Connecticut II, 363 F. Supp. 3d at 60-62. 
22 Interior’s assertion that the Mohegan Amendments included all the required information fails 
for the additional reasons given in Part IV below. 
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addressed the issue.  All that Interior offers are new arguments from its litigation counsel, which 

“will not suffice.”  W. Union Corp. v. FCC, 856 F.2d 315, 318 (D.C. Cir. 1988).   

Interior’s arguments regarding the Mohegan Amendments also suffer from an additional 

flaw: they do not grapple with the 2017 Decisions’ statement that Interior had “completed [its] 

review of the Amendment[s].”  ECF 1-1 at 219.  If Interior completed its review in 2017, the 

Amendments could not have been “ready for Interior’s review,” Mot. at 13, in 2018 and 2019.  

Interior’s motion does not address this inconvenient truth, and its Approval Decisions are likewise 

silent.  Indeed, the fact that Interior “completed [its] review” by “return[ing]” the Amendments, 

ECF 1-1 at 219, is fatal to Interior’s argument regardless of whether the Amendments were 

properly or improperly submitted because they were no longer pending after September 15, 2017.   

Interior’s defense of its approval of the Mashantucket Amendments (Mot. at 14-17) is 

equally flawed.  As with the Mohegan Amendments, Interior does not explain why Count II fails 

to meet the pleading requirements of Rule 12(b)(6) and Iqbal, and likewise does not provide a 

reason why the Court should not credit MGM’s well-pleaded allegations.  Instead, Interior relies 

exclusively on an argument that its 2019 approval decisions “reconsidered the position taken” in 

the 2017 Decisions.  Mot. at 14.  That is a merits defense, not a ground for dismissal, because it 

provides a substantive (albeit baseless) justification for Interior’s action, rather than addressing 

whether Count II states a claim upon which relief can be granted.  See Part I, supra; see also 

Connecticut II, 363 F. Supp. 3d at 63 (whether plaintiff has “prove[n]” an allegation is decided “at 

the summary judgment stage”).   

Regardless, Interior’s reconsideration argument would fail on the merits even if it were 

properly raised at this juncture. 
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Contrary to Interior’s argument (Mot. at 14-15), Interior did not validly exercise any 

“reconsideration” authority in approving the Mashantucket Amendments.23  The March 2019 

approval memoranda do not use the word “reconsideration” or otherwise indicate that Interior was 

revisiting the 2017 Decisions.  Indeed, the March 2019 letters do not even mention the 2017 

Decisions or the action they took.  See ECF 1-1 at 257-64.  Interior’s reconsideration argument 

therefore relies on impermissible post-hoc rationalization.  See Chenery, 332 U.S. at 196; W. 

Union, 856 F.2d at 318.  Interior attempts to avoid the Chenery rule by suggesting that its approval 

decisions “reflec[t] that Interior reconsidered the position” taken in 2017, Mot. at 15, but this is 

nothing more than after-the-fact spin.  Any argument that Interior silently, but implicitly, exercised 

its reconsideration authority is foreclosed by binding precedent, which requires that an agency 

changing course “acknowledge its past practice,” Am. Wild Horse Pres. Campaign v. Perdue, 873 

F.3d 914, 927-28 (D.C. Cir. 2017), and “provide a reasoned analysis indicating that prior policies 

and standards are being deliberately changed, not casually ignored,” Ramaprakash v. FAA, 346 

F.3d 1121, 1124-25 (D.C. Cir. 2003) (cleaned up).   

Even assuming that Interior did engage in the reconsideration its motion describes, the 

reconsideration was not timely.  Courts have repeatedly held that actions taken based on an 

agency’s inherent reconsideration authority must be taken “within a reasonable period of time.”  

Mazaleski v. Treusdell, 562 F.2d 702, 720 (D.C. Cir. 1977); see also Ivy Sports Med., LLC v. 

Burwell, 767 F.3d 81, 86 (D.C. Cir. 2014).  Where, as here, no statute or regulation establishes a 

period for reconsideration or appeal,24 courts generally define a reasonable period as “measured in 

                                                 
23 Interior does not argue that it relied on this reconsideration authority in allowing the Mohegan 
Amendments to be deemed approved.   
24 Cf. Prieto v. United States, 655 F. Supp. 1187, 1192 (D.D.C. 1987) (deriving 30-day time limit 
for administrative reconsideration from regulation governing agency-level proceeding).   
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weeks, not years.”  Mazaleski, 562 F.3d at 720.  Here, however, Interior’s purported 

reconsideration came outside that window:  Interior returned the Amendments and “completed 

[its] review” on September 15, 2017, ECF 1-1 at 219, but did not issue the Mashantucket approvals 

until March 19, 2019.  See ECF 1-1 at 249, 257-64.25     

At a minimum, the administrative record is necessary to evaluate Interior’s argument.  The 

Mashantucket approval memoranda state that the Secretary “consulted with the Office of the 

Solicitor regarding . . . the status of the Tribe’s August 2, 2017 submission,” ECF 1-1 at 261, but 

does not explain what that “status” is, what the consultation involved, what conclusions the agency 

drew from it, or what the agency’s reasoning for the conclusion was.  It is thus “difficult to 

evaluate” Interior’s argument “without the benefit of a full administrative record.”  Connecticut II, 

363 F. Supp. 3d at 62.26    

IV. Count III States a Valid Claim: The Mohegan Amendments Failed to Include 
Information Required by IGRA’s Implementing Regulations. 

Count III plausibly alleges that the Mohegan Amendments failed to comply with 25 C.F.R. 

§ 293.8(c), which states that “[d]ocumentation submitted with a compact or compact amendment 

must include … [c]ertification from the Governor or other representative of the State that he or she 

is authorized under State law to enter into the compact or amendment.”  (Emphasis added).  

                                                 
25 Interior asserts that it acted within “[o]ne month” of this Court’s decision allowing the 
Mashantucket to file an amended complaint, Mot. at 16, but that argument measures from the 
wrong starting point.  The correct approach looks to the gap between the initial decision 
(September 2017) and the date of the agency’s reversal (March 2019).  See Prieto, 655 F. Supp. at 
1192.  Interior cites no authority suggesting that a mere grant of a motion for leave to file an 
amended complaint should affect this timing analysis.  Cf. n. 27, infra. 
26 Although Interior cites case law permitting reconsideration of “legally erroneous earlier 
decisions,” Mot. at 16 (cleaned up), Interior does not show that its 2017 Decisions were unlawful 
or even that at the time of the approvals the agency believed that the prior decisions were infirm.  
Mere invocation of possible unlawfulness is not enough.  See Regents of the Univ. of Cal. v. DHS, 
908 F.3d 476, 505-10 (9th Cir. 2018). 
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Although Governor Malloy executed the Mohegan Amendments on behalf of the State in 2017, 

the Mohegan did not include a certification from Governor Malloy in their submission to Interior.  

As a result, the Mohegan Amendments were not properly submitted, and the 45-day “deemed 

approval” period cited by Interior never began to run.  See Compl. ¶¶ 114-121; 25 U.S.C. 

§ 2710(d)(8)(C).  Indeed, Interior itself indicated in 2017 that the Mohegan Amendments included 

“insufficient information upon which to make a decision.”  Compl. ¶ 117. 

Interior does not argue, because it cannot, that the Governor submitted a certification.  Mot. 

at 18.  Instead, Interior argues—without citation to authority—that a resolution adopted by the 

Connecticut Legislature renders “superfluous” certification from the Governor.  Id. 

That argument founders on the regulations’ plain text, which requires a certification from 

the “Governor or other [state] representative” who “enter[ed] into the compact or amendment.”  

25 C.F.R. § 293.8(c).  The need for a one-to-one relationship between the person making the 

certification and the person who executes the amendment is confirmed by the requirement that “he 

or she [be] authorized under State law to enter into the compact or amendment.”  Id.  That language 

would make no sense if a third party, such as the legislature, could supply the certification.  See 

Kisor v. Wilkie, 139 S. Ct. 2400, 2419 (2019) (no deference to agency’s interpretation of regulation 

unless “the regulation remains genuinely susceptible to multiple reasonable meanings and the 

agency’s interpretation lines up with one of them”).  Moreover, Interior’s post-hoc rationale finds 

no support in the portions of the administrative record of which MGM is aware, providing an 

independent basis to reject this argument.  See Chenery, 332 U.S. at 196. 

Interior’s treatment of similar cases likewise demonstrates that Interior erred in allowing 

an amendment that did not satisfy section 293.8(c) to be deemed approved.  See Part III.B, supra 

(discussing other Interior actions).  The Seneca Nation decision is particularly instructive.  There, 
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the Seneca Nation submitted an arbitration award to the Interior Department for review and 

approval, arguing that “[t]he demand for arbitration submitted by the State’s representatives … 

constitute[s] certification from the Governor or other representative of the State that he is 

authorized under State law to enter into the arbitration process that resulted in the amendment to 

the Compact.”  Ex. B, at 14.  Interior rejected this argument and returned the amendment solely 

because it “lacks a certification from the Governor or other State representative that he or she is 

authorized under State law to enter into the compact or amendment as required by 25 C.F.R. 

§ 293.8(c).” Ex. B at 15.  Interior’s return thus confirms that section 293.8(c) means what it says: 

certification by the Governor is required, and nothing else will suffice.  Because the Part 293 

regulations recite requirements that tribes “must” follow, 25 C.F.R. § 293.1, Interior could not 

lawfully have allowed the Mohegan Amendments to be deemed approved in light of the failure to 

comply with section 293.8(c).  See Parts III.A, III.B.3, supra (addressing requirements of Amador 

and the Cheyenne-Arapaho line of decisions).  At a minimum, Interior’s failure to provide a 

reasoned explanation for overlooking this deficiency requires remand.   

V. Count IV States a Valid Claim: Interior Failed to Provide Adequate Explanations 
and Its Approval Decisions Are Arbitrary and Capricious. 

As with MGM’s other claims, Count IV alleges facts that, taken as true, state a claim for 

relief under the APA—and therefore is not subject to dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6). 

For the reasons given in Part I above, the sole question is whether MGM has asserted a 

viable claim that Interior’s approval decisions are arbitrary and capricious, in violation of 5 U.S.C. 

§ 706(2).  See Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678; Friends of Animals, 373 F. Supp. 3d at 82.    

The answer is, once again, “yes.”  Count IV plausibly alleges that Interior violated bedrock 

APA requirements by failing to (i) provide a reasoned justification for its approval of the 

Mashantucket Amendments, (ii) provide any justification for its deemed approval of the Mohegan 
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Amendments, (iii) explain why it departed from its 2017 Decisions, and (iv) respond to MGM’s 

comments, which Interior requested copies of and met with MGM representatives to discuss, and 

which raised questions regarding the lawfulness of the Amendments and the agency’s authority to 

act.  See Compl. ¶¶ 122-140.  As discussed below, each of these allegations is supported by factual 

content that, accepted as true, would “allo[w] the court to draw the reasonable inference that” 

Interior’s approval decisions are arbitrary, capricious, and contrary to law.  Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678.   

A. Interior’s Explanation of the Mashantucket Approval Decisions Is 
Inadequate. 

Court IV plausibly alleges errors in Interior’s justification for approving the Mashantucket 

Amendments.   

As an initial matter, Interior’s stated justification for approving the Amendments is 

inadequate.  The Approval Decisions rest on a conclusion that the Amendments “are narrowly 

tailored to affirm” that the Mashantucket’s rights to conduct Class III gaming at Foxwoods “will 

remain unaffected if” Connecticut authorizes the Tribes’ commercial joint venture to operate a 

casino “outside of … Indian lands.”  ECF 1-1 at 261.  That statement, together with a vague 

reference to “consult[ation] with” the Solicitor’s Office regarding “the posture of the litigation, 

and the status of the Tribe’s August 2, 2017 submission,” constitutes the entirety of Interior’s 

reasoning.  Id.  None of these statements explains why the Amendments are consistent with 

IGRA’s “Indian lands” limitation, or any other part of IGRA.  See Compl. ¶¶ 130, 133-134; see 

also Part II.B.2, supra.  The approval decisions likewise do not address any of the restrictions 

prescribed by IGRA, see, e.g., 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(3), (d)(7)(B)(vii), or explain why the breadth 

or narrowness of an amendment matters.  Nor do the statements consider whether paving the way 

for increased commercial gaming would divert revenue and employment from the Mashantucket’s 

on-reservation, IGRA-regulated casino.  Compl. ¶ 132.  In each of these respects—all of which 
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Interior overlooks in its motion—there is at a minimum a plausible basis for concluding that 

Interior failed to “conside[r] … the relevant factors” and “entirely failed to consider … important 

aspect[s] of the problem.”  State Farm, 463 U.S. at 43.  As this Court explained in a prior ruling, 

“to the extent [Interior] explained [its] decision, Plaintiffs sufficiently allege that the explanation 

was conclusory at best.  And conclusory statements will not do; an agency’s statement must be 

one of reasoning.”  Connecticut II, 363 F. Supp. 3d at 61 (emphasis in original).   

The Approval Decisions also depart without explanation from Interior’s 2017 Decisions, 

which “return[ed]” the Amendments and “maintain[ed] the status quo.”  ECF 1-1 at 219.  The 

Approval Decisions do not mention the prior ruling, much less provide a reasoned justification for 

the sudden about-face.  See ECF 1-1 at 257-64.  That omission is on its own sufficient cause to set 

aside the decisions.  See, e.g., Ramaprakash, 346 F.3d at 1125 (“An agency’s failure to come to 

grips with conflicting precedent constitutes an inexcusable departure from the essential 

requirement of reasoned decision making.” (cleaned up)).   

Interior’s responses are meritless.   

Interior’s first argument—that the approval decisions “do not constitute changes in 

Interior’s policy,” such that it had no duty to provide a reasoned explanation for the approvals, 

Mot. at 19-20—is inconsistent with this Court’s ruling that the 2017 Decisions constituted “final 

agency [action]” reflecting “the consummation of the Secretary’s decisionmaking process.”  

Connecticut II, 363 F. Supp. 3d at 58.27  But regardless of the label applied, Interior’s broader 

                                                 
27 Interior misstates the Court’s ruling in asserting that “the Court concluded … that [the] 2017 
Letters reflected agency inaction for judicial review purposes.”  Mot. at 5 (emphasis added); see 
also id. at 20-22.  The Court rejected Interior’s argument that the 2017 Decisions were non-final 
and, as noted, held that the letters constituted final agency action.  See Connecticut II, 363 F. Supp. 
3d at 58-59.  Although Interior seizes on the Court’s mention of “agency inaction,” the Court raised 
that issue only to explain that “[t]o the extent that [the 2017] decision may be construed as agency 
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argument fails because the approval decisions fundamentally altered Interior’s approach.  The 

2017 Decisions state that Interior “completed [its] review of the Amendment[s],” “return[ed] the 

Amendment[s]” to the Tribes, and “maintain[ed] the status quo.”  ECF 1-1 at 219.  Taking further 

action on a matter that an agency has already declared “completed” is an obvious change in course 

that requires explanation.  See, e.g., Prieto, 655 F. Supp. at 1192; Amer. Bar Ass’n v. U.S. Dep’t 

of Educ., 370 F. Supp. 3d 1, 32–33 (D.D.C. 2019).  Likewise, approving the Amendments changed, 

rather than maintained, the status quo by altering the content of the Mashantucket Procedures and 

MOU—a shift that had real-world consequences in the Connecticut casino market.  Compl. ¶¶ 86-

94; Connecticut II, 363 F. Supp. 3d at 59; Connecticut I, 344 F. Supp. 3d at 297-304.   

Interior’s next argument—that even if an explanation was necessary, the one Interior 

provided was sufficient, see Mot. at 19, 23-26—is premature because it is directed to the merits of 

MGM’s claim, not whether Count IV states a claim.  See Part I, supra.  But in any event, the 

argument does not withstand scrutiny.  By Interior’s lights, at most a minimal explanation is 

necessary because the approval decisions reflected an “evolving analysis” of the issues presented 

by the Amendments and a “revised understanding of the law” based on this Court’s Connecticut 

II decision.  Mot. at 23-25.28  But the cases Interior cites in support of this proposition bear no 

resemblance to this suit.  In Sierra Club v. BLM, for example, agency employees initially 

                                                 
inaction,” the decision was nevertheless reviewable because it met the APA’s definition of 
“agency action,” which encompasses “discrete” inaction.  Id. at 59 (emphasis added).  As the 
italicized language shows, the Court was responding to an argument rather than adopting a 
conclusion. 
28 Interior does not indicate what “revised understanding” it drew from the Court’s ruling.  That 
omission is particularly telling given that Connecticut II merely determined that two claims were 
“plausibly alleg[ed],” but had not yet been—and might never be—“prove[n]” on the merits.  363 
F. Supp. 3d at 62-63; see also id. at 65 n.19.  Further, the approval decisions say nothing about a 
“revised understanding” of the law, such that the argument in Interior’s motion is an impermissible 
post hoc rationalization.  See Part III, supra; Chenery, 332 U.S. at 196. 
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anticipated that consultation with other agencies would be necessary, but later determined that no 

such consultation was required, 786 F. 3d 1219, 1222, 1226 (9th Cir. 2015); the absence of a 

change in “official policy” was essential to the court’s conclusion, id. at 1226, which was issued 

at the summary judgment stage, see id. at 1223.  Here, in contrast, Interior’s approval decisions 

depart from prior decisions stating that the agency had “completed [its] review,” ECF 1-1 at 219, 

and which represented “the consummation of the Secretary’s decisionmaking process,” 

Connecticut II, 363 F. Supp. 3d at 58.  Standing Rock Sioux Tribe v. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, 

255 F. Supp. 3d 101 (D.D.C. 2017), is equally inapposite.  That decision, which also issued at the 

summary judgment stage, see id. at 120-21, upheld the agency’s “reversal of its previous position,” 

but only after concluding that the agency had “display[ed] awareness that it [was] changing 

position” and “show[n] that there are good reasons for the new policy,” id. at 141 (cleaned up); 

see also id. at 141-42.  Here, Interior’s approval decisions do neither of those things.  See also Part 

III, supra (Interior’s “reconsideration” arguments fail).      

Although Interior also resists the proposition that Fox’s heightened-justification 

requirement applies here, see Mot. at 19-21, 23-25, a “more detailed justification” is necessary 

when an agency’s later-in-time decision “rests upon factual findings that contradict those which 

underlay its prior policy,” FCC v. Fox Television Stations, Inc., 556 U.S. 502, 515 (2009).  Here, 

Interior’s decisions approving the Amendments necessarily rely on new factual findings that 

contradict Interior’s 2017 finding that the original submissions included “insufficient information 

upon which to make a decision,” ECF 1-1 at 219, because Interior could not have approved the 

Amendments without first finding that they were properly submitted and supported by sufficient 

information, see Compl. ¶ 138.  Fox’s heighted-justification requirement therefore applies.  The 

point is academic, however, because the Approval Decisions fail even under the standard 
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requirement—which predates Fox—that an agency changing course “must provide a reasoned 

analysis indicating that prior policies and standards are being deliberately changed, not casually 

ignored.”  Ramaprakash, 346 F.3d at 1124 (cleaned up).  

B. Interior’s Deemed Approval of the Mohegan Amendments Is Arbitrary, 
Capricious, and Contrary to Law. 

Interior seeks to dismiss Count IV’s allegations regarding deemed approval of the 

Mohegan Amendments on three grounds, each flawed. 

First, Interior’s argument that the 2017 Decisions constituted inaction, rather than action, 

such that there is no change in position to explain, Mot. at 21-22, fails for the reasons given above,  

see Part V.A & note 27, supra, and because it rests on the unsupported assertion that “the legally 

relevant aspect of [the 2017 Decisions] is [their] confirmation that Interior would not act within 

the requisite forty-five day period,” Mot. at 22.  That contention does not account for Interior’s 

statements that the 2017 Decisions “completed [its] review,” “return[ed] the Amendment[s],” and 

“maintain[ed] the status quo.”  ECF 1-1 at 219.  Those statements are the legally relevant portion 

of the letters under the Cheyenne-Arapaho line of decisions; they also account for this Court’s 

holding that the 2017 Decisions constituted final agency action that “completed” Interior’s review 

and caused “significant legal and practical consequences.”  Connecticut II, 363 F. Supp. 3d at 59.   

Second, although Interior argues that “no explanation at all” was required because “it took 

no action on the Mohegan Amendments” before issuing the deemed approval, Mot. at 22, 28, this 

argument actually supports judgment for MGM.  Precedent dictates that Interior has an “obligation 

to disapprove illegal compacts,” Amador, 640 F.3d at 381, meaning that Interior must determine 

whether an amendment complies with IGRA before allowing it to be deemed approved, id. at 381-

83 (Interior “may not allow a compact that violates [IGRA] to go into effect by operation of law”); 
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see Part II.B.3, supra.29  Interior’s motion admits that the agency failed to make that 

determination.30  Because Interior did not take a step that IGRA and Circuit precedent requires, its 

deemed approval is arbitrary, capricious, and contrary to law.  State Farm, 463 U.S. at 43.   

Third, and finally, Interior errs in arguing that even if the duty of reasoned decisionmaking 

applies (which, as explained above, is the case), “Interior provided all the justification required by 

IGRA and the APA.”  Mot. at 23.  Although Interior notes that the deemed-approval notice it 

issued here, see ECF 1-1 at 249, “is materially identical to” notices Interior has issued in other 

instances, Mot. at 23, this argument is not properly raised in a Rule 12(b)(6) motion.  See Part I, 

supra.   

Interior’s argument fails on the merits in any event.  To begin with, the argument relies on 

the misguided notion that “‘[w]hatever is is right; an aphorism that would be as final as it is lazy, 

did it not include the troublesome consequence, that nothing that ever was, was wrong.’”  Nat’l 

Ass’n of Mfrs. v. SEC, 800 F.3d 518, 521 (D.C. Cir. 2015) (quoting Charles Dickens, A Tale of 

Two Cities at 65 (1859)).  Irrespective of what it has done in the past, Interior cannot fulfill its duty 

to provide a reasoned justification with thin air.  Although Interior maintains that its deemed-

approval provided the sign-off IGRA requires, Mot. at 23, a mere sign-off is not enough—the 

deemed approval must at least determine that the Amendments “are consistent with IGRA.”  

Connecticut II, 363 F. Supp. 3d at 62; see also Butte Cty., 613 F.3d at 194.  That may be a light 

burden in an ordinary case, where no one has challenged the lawfulness of the submission at issue 

                                                 
29 In addition to making the claim at issue in Amador—i.e., that Interior had a duty to disapprove 
the Amendments because they violate IGRA—MGM also makes the argument, not asserted by the 
Amador plaintiffs, that Interior’s deemed-approval decision was not supported by a reasoned 
justification.  Compare Amador, 640 F.3d at 382.   
30 Interior’s admission is consistent with its May 31, 2018 statement that it permitted the Mohegan 
Amendments to be deemed approved “without determining whether [they are] actually consistent 
with the statutory framework of IGRA.”  ECF 1-1 at 251. 
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and the submission on its face complies with IGRA.  But this case is not ordinary:  Interior itself 

previously returned the Amendments based in part on “insufficient information,” and MGM 

submitted comments raising questions regarding whether the Amendments could be lawfully 

approved.  Thus, even if boilerplate might suffice in other instances, it is not enough here.  See 

Clark, 522 F.3d at 441-42. 

C. Interior Violated the APA By Failing to Address MGM’s Comments. 

Count IV also plausibly alleges that Interior violated the APA by failing to address the 

issues raised in MGM’s comments.  As noted, those comments explained that the 2017 Decisions 

precluded later approvals, that Interior had authority to return the Amendments, and that the 

Amendments violate IGRA.31   

Although Interior asserts (Mot. at 27) that it had no duty to “acknowledge, much less 

respond to, [MGM’s] comments,” precedent is to the contrary.  MGM’s comments are part of the 

“whole record” that the APA requires be the basis for Interior’s decision.  Stand Up For California! 

v. U.S. Dep’t of the Interior, 315 F. Supp. 3d 289, 293 (D.D.C. 2018); see also Citizens to Pres. 

Overton Park, Inc. v. Volpe, 401 U.S. 402, 420 (1971); Butte County, 613 F.3d at 194.  Whether 

or not Interior was required to accept comments from interested third parties, the fact is that Interior 

did so here.32  Indeed, Interior not only accepted MGM’s comments for filing, but requested 

additional copies of the comments and met with MGM representatives to discuss the issues raised 

                                                 
31 MGM filed one set of comments around the time the Amendments were submitted, and another 
on October 30, 2017.  See Compl. ¶¶ 53, 56; ECF 1-1 at 221-247; Ex. A. 
32 See also 5 U.S.C. § 555(b) (“So far as the orderly conduct of public business permits, an 
interested person may appear before an agency or its responsible employees for the presentation, 
adjustment, or determination of an issue, request, or controversy in a proceeding, whether 
interlocutory, summary, or otherwise, or in connection with an agency function.”). 
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in the comments.  See Compl. ¶¶ 53, 56.  Because the comments are among the “information that 

the agency considered either directly or indirectly,” they are part of the record and had to be 

addressed in the approval decisions.  Stand Up, 315 F. Supp. 3d at 293; see also Amgen, Inc. v. 

Hargan, 285 F. Supp. 3d 397, 404 (D.D.C. 2017).33 

In addition, Interior had an obligation under the APA, including 5 U.S.C. § 555(e), to 

respond to MGM’s comments.  See Compl. ¶¶ 123, 125, 131, 140.  Section 555(e) provides that 

an agency “shall” provide “[p]rompt notice … of the denial … of a written application, petition, 

or other request of an interested person made in connection with any agency proceeding” and that 

“[e]xcept … when the denial is self-explanatory, the notice shall be accompanied by a brief 

statement of the grounds for denial.”  This statement “must be one of reasoning; it must not be just 

a conclusion” and “must articulate a satisfactory explanation for its action.”  Butte Cty, 613 F.3d 

at 194; see also Amerijet, 753 F.3d at 1350 (section 555(e) “codifie[s]” the “basic principle” that 

an agency must engage in reasoned decisionmaking); Tourus Records, Inc. v. DEA, 259 F.3d 731, 

737 (D.C. Cir. 2001).  Here, as in Butte County—another case involving informal adjudication of 

tribal-gaming matters—Interior “violate[d] the minimal procedural requirements § 555(e) 

imposed” by failing to provide any response at all.  Butte Cty., 613 F.3d at 195. 

Finally, MGM’s comments speak to an “important aspect of the problem” that Interior 

could not lawfully avoid.  Sierra Club v. EPA, 774 F.3d 383, 393 (D.C. Cir. 2014); see Compl. 

¶¶ 128-135.  The comments present the arguments outlined in Parts II through IV above, all of 

which raise questions about the Amendments’ compliance with IGRA.  For example, MGM 

                                                 
33 Any attempt to exclude MGM’s comments from the record would fail because MGM’s 
comments “(1) were known to the agency at the time it made its decision, (2) ‘are directly related 
to the decision,’ and (3) ‘are adverse to the agency’s decision.’”  Fund for Animals v. Williams, 
391 F. Supp. 2d 191, 198 (D.D.C. 2005); see also Universal Camera Corp. v. NLRB, 340 U.S. 
474, 488 (1951); Butte Cty., 613 F.3d at 194.   
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explained that Interior could not approve the Amendments or allow them to be deemed approved 

because it had already “return[ed]” them and “completed [its] review.”  ECF 1-1 at 224, 229-230.  

MGM also showed, based on the Cheyenne-Arapaho line of decisions, that IGRA’s 45-day shot-

clock does not begin to run when, as here, an amendment is returned based on insufficient 

information.  ECF 1-1 at 224, 231-232.  And MGM also argued in the alternative that if Interior 

reached the merits, it “should disapprove the [A]mendments because they contravene IGRA’s text, 

structure, and purposes” and “would set a far-reaching precedent for expansion for off-reservation 

gaming.”  ECF 1-1 at 235-242.  MGM supported these arguments with discussion of cases 

applying IGRA’s “Indian lands” limitation as well as past agency decisions disapproving compacts 

designed to facilitate gaming on non-Indian lands.  ECF 1-1 at 237-238.  MGM also showed that 

allowing Tribes to use IGRA’s amendment mechanism to obtain authorization for gaming on 

newly acquired off-reservation lands would circumvent and eviscerate IGRA’s carefully crafted 

procedure for taking new lands into trust for gaming purposes.  ECF 1-1 at 236-37 (discussing 25 

U.S.C. § 2719(b)).  Courts found that agencies acted unlawfully by failing to address similar 

comments in Clark and Butte County, and the same conclusion is warranted here. See Clark, 522 

F.3d at 441-42; Butte Cty., 613 F.3d at 194-95.34  

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the motion to dismiss should be denied and the claims raised in 

MGM’s Complaint should be resolved on cross-motions for summary judgment, based on the full 

administrative record.   

                                                 
34 Interior’s assertion (Mot. at 28) that it has no duty to “affirmatively confirm, with each approval 
or deemed approval, that a compact or procedures” satisfies IGRA, is 180 degrees opposite of the 
D.C. Circuit’s decision in Amador.  See 640 F.3d at 381-83.     
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